
 
 

City of Keene Planning Board  
 

AGENDA - AMENDED 
 

Monday, November 27, 2023  6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 
 

I. Call to Order – Roll Call 
 

II. Minutes of Previous Meeting – October 23, 2023 
 

III. Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 
 

IV. Extension Request 
 

1. S-04-22 & SPR-04-22 – Conservation Residential Development Subdivision and Site 
Plan – 0 Drummer Rd – Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants, on behalf of owner C. Eric 
Farris, requests a second extension to the deadline to satisfy the precedent conditions of 
approval for the proposed 6-lot subdivision of the property located at 0 Drummer Rd (TMP 
# 515-015-000) and construction of four, 5-unit multifamily residences and one, 6-unit 
multifamily residence. The property is 13.1 acres and is located in the Low Density District. 
 

V. Boundary Line Adjustment 
 

1. S-11-23 – Boundary Line Adjustment & Street Access Permit – 143 & 147 Main St & 0 
Davis St – Applicant Brickstone Land Use Consultants, on behalf of owners 143 Main LLC 
& 147-151 Main Street LLC, proposes to merge the 0.12-ac parcel at 0 Davis St (TMP# 
584-059-000) with the existing 0.15-ac parcel at 143 Main St and the 0.19-ac parcel at 147 
Main St (TMP#s 584-061-000 & 584-060-000) and adjust the common lot line between 
these two parcels. A new curb cut is also proposed along Main St to access the parcel at 
143 Main St. All parcels are located in the Downtown Core District. 
 

VI. Public Hearing 
 

1. CLSS-CUP-03-23 – Congregate Living & Social Services Conditional Use Permit – Keene 
Serenity Center, 24 Vernon St - Applicant Keene Serenity Center, on behalf of owner 
Monadnock Area Peer Support Agency, proposes to operate a group resource center on 
the property at 24 Vernon St (TMP #568-058-000). The site is 0.28 ac and is located in the 
Downtown Core District. 
 

VII. Master Plan Steering Committee 
 

VIII. Staff Updates 
 

1 of 43



 

 
 

IX. New Business 
 

X. Upcoming Dates of Interest 
 Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – December 11th, 6:30 PM 
 Planning Board Steering Committee – December 5th, 11:00 AM 
 Planning Board Site Visit – December 13th, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed 
 Planning Board Meeting – December 18th, 6:30 PM 

 

2 of 43



City of Keene 1 
New Hampshire 2 

 3 
 4 

PLANNING BOARD 5 
MEETING MINUTES 6 

 7 
Monday, October 23, 2023 6:30 PM Council Chambers, 
            City Hall  8 
Members Present: 
Harold Farrington, Chair 
David Orgaz, Vice Chair  
Roberta Mastrogiovanni 
Councilor Michael Remy 
Armando Rangel 
Ryan Clancy  
Randyn Markelon, Alternate 
Kenneth Kost, Alternate 
 
Members Not Present: 
Mayor George S. Hansel 
Gail Somers, Alternate 
Tammy Adams, Alternate 
Emily Lavigne-Bernier 

Staff Present: 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
Evan Clements, Planner 
Jesse Rounds, Community Development 
Director 
 

 9 
I) Call to Order – Roll Call 10 

 11 
Chair Farrington called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken. 12 
 13 
II) Minutes of Previous Meeting – September 25, 2023 14 

 15 
A motion was made by Councilor Michael Remy that the Planning Board approve the September 16 
25, 2023 meeting minutes. The motion was seconded by David Orgaz and was unanimously 17 
approved.  18 
 19 

III) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 20 
 21 

The Chairman stated this is a new standing agenda item in response to the recent “City of Dover” 22 
decision issued by the NH Supreme Court. As a matter of practice, the Board will now issue a final 23 
vote on all conditionally approved plans after all of the “conditions precedent” have been met. 24 
This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 25 
 26 

Ms. Brunner stated there is one application ready for a final vote – a subdivision application, S-27 
06-23, for a 2-lot subdivision of the property at 800 Park Avenue. There were five conditions 28 
precedent for this application including having the owner’s signature appear on the plan; the  29 

3 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 2 of 14 
 

inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee or posting a security 30 
for the inspection of the lot monuments; submitting a copy of the draft of pass and repass easement 31 
document for the City Attorney’s review;  the submittal of four full size paper copies, two mylar 32 
and a digital copy of the final plan set; and the submittal of a check in the amount of $51 to cover 33 
recording fees. 34 

Ms. Brunner noted that all these conditions precedent have been met. A motion was made by 35 
Councilor Michael Remy that the Planning Board issue final approval for S-06-23. The motion 36 
was seconded by David Orgaz and was unanimously approved. 37 

 38 
IV) Extension Requests  39 

 40 
1. S-03-23 & SWP-CUP-02-23 – Conservation Residential Development Subdivision & 41 
Surface Water Protection Conditional Use Permit – Whitcomb’s Mill Estates, 19 42 
Whitcomb’s Mill Rd – Applicant and owner Sandra R. Henry Trust requests an 43 
extension to the deadline to satisfy the precedent conditions of approval for the CRD 44 
subdivision & Surface Water CUP applications, S-03-23 & SWP-CUP-02-23, for the 45 
proposed subdivision of the 12.42 ac parcel at 19 Whitcomb’s Mill Rd (TMP #237-018-46 
000) into 9 lots, including 8 residential building lots ranging in size from 0.38 to 0.77 ac 47 
and one open space lot that is 6.83 ac in size. The parcel is located in the Low Density 1 48 
District. 49 

 50 
Mr. Jim Phippard addressed the Board on behalf of the property owner and stated this is a first 51 
request for an extension to the timeframe to satisfy  the precedent conditions of approval for this 52 
application. He explained that there were nine conditions precedent, two of which required the 53 
applicant to go before the City Council, which is a lengthy process. He stated that almost all of the 54 
conditions of approval are completed; however, he noted that they are still waiting for a letter of 55 
credit from the bank. He indicated they hope to have everything submitted to the Community 56 
Development Department in a week. Mr. Phippard stated they are requesting a six-month 57 
extension.  58 
 59 
A motion was made by Councilor Michael Remy that the Planning Board extend the deadline to 60 
meet the precedent conditions of approval by 180 days for S-03-23 & SWP-CUP-02-23.  The 61 
motion was seconded by David Orgaz and was unanimously approved.  62 
 63 

2. SPR-06-23 – Site Plan – Roosevelt School Housing – 438 Washington St – Applicant 64 
Monadnock Affordable Housing, on behalf of owner Community College System of 65 
New Hampshire, requests an extension to the deadline to satisfy the precedent 66 
conditions of approval for the Major Site Plan application, SPR-06-23, for the proposed 67 
renovations to the former Roosevelt School building and the construction of a new 68 
~12,646 sf 2-story building with associated site improvements to create a 60 unit multi-69 
family housing development on the property at 438 Washington St (TMP #531-054-70 
000). The site is 2.4 ac and is located in the Low Density District. 71 

 72 

4 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 3 of 14 
 

Ms. Sandy Clark, Facilities Director for Keene Housing, explained that they need more time to 73 
address the retaining wall issue for Woodbury Street, so they are requesting a six-month extension 74 
for this application. 75 
 76 
A motion was made by Councilor Michael Remy that the Planning Board extend the deadline to 77 
meet the conditions of approval by 180 days for SPR-06-23.  The motion was seconded by David 78 
Orgaz and was unanimously approved.  79 
 80 
V.  Public Hearings  81 
 82 

1. S-09-23 – Subdivision – 284 West Surry Rd: Applicant Huntley Survey & Design 83 
PLLC, on behalf of owners Corbet & Colline Cook, proposes to subdivide the ~9.19-ac 84 
parcel at 284 West Surry Rd (TMP #206-025-000) into three lots ranging in size from 85 
~2 ac to ~5.16 ac. The parcel is located in the Rural District. 86 

 87 
A. Board Determination of Completeness 88 

 89 
Evan Clements, Planner, addressed the Board and stated the Applicant has requested exemptions 90 
from providing a drainage report, traffic analysis, soil analysis, and other technical reports. Staff 91 
have determined that the requested exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the 92 
application and recommend that the Board accept the application as complete. 93 
 94 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy to accept the subdivision application, S-09-23, as 95 
complete. The motion was seconded by David Orgaz and was unanimously approved. 96 
 97 

B.   Public Hearing 98 
 99 
Mr. Russ Huntley of Huntley Survey and Design addressed the Board and explained that this 100 
property has a little over nine acres and the property owner is seeking approval for a three-lot 101 
subdivision. He explained that there is an existing house with a septic system, well, and driveway 102 
on the parcel and indicated that the property owner would like to create two more building lots. 103 
One would be north of the existing house and one west of the existing house.  104 
 105 
The one to the north would be the minimum two-acre lot size with plenty of frontage. The existing 106 
house would also be on a two acre lot with frontage on both Darling Road and West Surry Road. 107 
The remaining five plus acres would have frontage on Darling Road. Test pits have been 108 
completed, a survey has been done, and all zoning criteria have been met and staff requirements 109 
have been addressed. 110 
 111 
Staff comments were next. Mr. Clements stated the subject parcel is an existing 9.19-acre lot 112 
located on the corner of Route NH 12A, also known as West Surry Road and Darling Road, with 113 
Bretwood Golf Club directly to the east and the Keene/Surry town line approximately 1,300 feet 114 
to the north. There is an existing 1,152 square foot single-family residence with a detached garage 115 
on the property. The applicant proposes to subdivide the parcel to create two new residential 116 
building lots. Lot 1 will have access off of West Surry Road and will be 2.02-acres in size with 117 
254 feet of frontage. Lot 2 will be a 2-acre corner lot with 165 feet of frontage on West Surry Road 118 

5 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 4 of 14 
 

and 233 feet of frontage on Darling Road. This lot will contain the existing single-family residence. 119 
Lot 3 will be a 5.16-acre lot with 512 feet of frontage on Darling Road.  120 
 121 
With reference to the “Character of Land for Subdivision” – Mr. Clements stated the subject parcel 122 
is characterized by a level open field along the roadways with a tree line deeper onto the property. 123 
Further onto the property, the land begins to slope away from the road in a northwesterly direction. 124 
A large wetland area exists at the low point of the property in the northwestern corner of the lot. 125 
There appears to be sufficient level land in this area for future residential development, if there 126 
was some tree clearing done. Test pit data has been submitted as part of this application. The data 127 
reveals that the soil composition is mostly sandy with few clumps, with an estimated seasonal 128 
high-water observed at no greater than 50 inches and no ledge observed. The site appears to be 129 
suitable for septic.  130 
 131 
Mr. Clements went on to say that the existing development pattern of the area along Darling Road 132 
consists of two-acre residential parcels. The proposed two-acre lots appear to fit in with the existing 133 
developed parcels. The proposed Lot 3 will contain the majority of the existing wetland system 134 
and is proposed to be larger as a result. It appears that this standard has been met.  135 
 136 
With reference to the “Preservation of Existing Features” - The two proposed undeveloped lots, 137 
Lots 1 & 3, contain areas of open field as well as wooded areas. Tree clearing will most likely be 138 
required for the future development of Lot 3 (Lot 1 appears to be clear already). The 75-foot 139 
wetland buffer is shown on the plan for all three lots and will provide protection for the existing 140 
wetlands system. The Board may wish to consider a subsequent condition of approval related to 141 
the wetlands buffer being flagged prior to the commencement of any site development in the future 142 
on Lots 1 and 3. It appears that this standard has been met.  143 
 144 
“Special Flood Hazard Areas” - The subject parcel is not located within a special flood hazard 145 
area.  146 
 147 
“Fire Protection and Water Supply” - The applicant states in the narrative that fire protection 148 
service will be consistent with the other residences constructed in the neighborhood, but did not 149 
provide specific information initially. Following staff’s conversation with the applicant, they have 150 
agreed to add a note to the plan regarding individual sprinkler systems. Mr. Clements stated staff 151 
did not recommend adding this note, but it is something the applicant has agreed to add to the plan.  152 
 153 
He further explained the note will also state that if any future development of these lots comes 154 
forward and the applicant does not want to install a sprinkler system, they have the option to come 155 
back before the Board to discuss other fire protection options suitable to meet the intent of the 156 
Board’s regulations.  157 
 158 
During the review of this application, it was also discovered that at the turnaround point of Darling 159 
Court (2,000 feet from the subject parcel), there is private fire cistern. Mr. Clements stated it is 160 
unlikely the Fire Department would utilize this cistern during an emergency.  161 
 162 
“Utilities” - All three lots will be serviced by private well and septic systems. The subdivision 163 
plan shows sufficient room on each lot to accommodate the 75-foot wellhead protection radius and 164 

6 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 5 of 14 
 

a 4k septic area. NH DES subdivision approval will be required for Lot 1 as it is less than five 165 
acres in size. It appears that this standard has been met. 166 
 167 
Mr. Clements went over the recommended motion. This concluded staff comments. 168 
 169 
Councilor Remy asked whether language needs to be included in the motion regarding fire 170 
protection or whether that has already been included. Mr. Clements stated the conversation he had 171 
with Mr. Huntley regarding the note was after the staff report was drafted. He explained that the 172 
legislation regarding this item has changed, hence staff is hesitant to bring it up to the Board 173 
because it is clear the Board can’t require or necessarily accept it. Staff believe because it is being 174 
voluntarily offered at this time by the applicant that it should be sufficient, and it allows staff to 175 
deal with it on an individual level at this time. 176 
 177 
Mr. Clancy clarified that the lot that has the house was a two-acre lot and not five acres. Mr. 178 
Clements agreed it was two acres and that the lot to the west was five acres.  179 
 180 
The Chairman asked for public comment next.  181 
 182 
Ms. Sylvie Singh-Lamay of 45 Darling Road asked what the purpose is of the 75-foot protective 183 
well radius. Mr. Clements explained this meant that a wellhead would be installed in the center of 184 
the circle shown on the plan and explained that a leech field or septic system could be installed 185 
within this 75 foot area. 186 
 187 
With no other comments from the public, the Chair closed the public hearing. 188 
 189 
Mr. Clements addressed regional impact as it pertains to this application. He indicated that after 190 
reviewing the application, staff has a made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed subdivision 191 
does not appear to have the potential for regional impact. He added the Board would need to make 192 
a final determination about whether the proposal could have the potential for regional impact, if 193 
approved. 194 
 195 
Councilor Remy asked whether the Board wanted to include language regarding wetlands flagging. 196 
Ms. Markelon felt it made sense to have the area flagged.  197 
 198 

C. Board Discussion and Action 199 
 200 
A motion was made by Councilor Michael Remy that the Planning Board approve S-09-23 as 201 
shown on the plan set identified as “Three Lot Minor Subdivision” prepared by Huntley Survey & 202 
Design at a scale of 1 inch = 40 feet, dated August 31, 2023 and last revised on October 3, 2023 203 
with the following conditions:  204 
 205 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 206 
conditions precedent shall be met:  207 

A. Owner’s signature appears on the plan.  208 

7 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 6 of 14 
 

B. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee 209 
following their installation or the submittal of a security in an amount deemed 210 
satisfactory to the Public Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be set.  211 
C. Subdivision approval from the New Hampshire Department of Environmental 212 
Services shall be obtained.  213 
D. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a digital 214 
copy of the final plan set.  215 
E. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of Keene to 216 
cover recording fees.  217 

 218 
2. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 219 
conditions shall be met:  220 

A. Prior to the issuance of a building permit for new residential construction, a 221 
stormwater management plan shall be submitted to the Community Development 222 
Department for review and approval by the City Engineer.  223 
B. At the Community Development Director’s discretion, the 75-ft. wetland buffer 224 
shall be flagged and inspected by the Community Development Director or their 225 
designee prior to site development. 226 

 227 
The motion was seconded by David Orgaz. 228 
 229 
Councilor Remy stated he agrees with staff that there is no regional impact from this project. 230 
 231 
The Chair felt the applicant has met the Board’s development standards and was in favor of 232 
approving the application. 233 
 234 
 The motion made by Councilor Remy was unanimously approved. 235 
 236 
 237 

2. S-10-23 & SPR-02-22, Modification #1 – Boundary Line Adjustment & Site Plan – 238 
Aroma Joe’s & Granite State Carwash, 348 & 364 West St – Applicant Brickstone Land 239 
Use Consultants, on behalf of owners, proposes a boundary 1 of 57 line adjustment that 240 
would transfer ~0.022 ac of land West Street AJ’s LLC and A&B LLC from the ~0.598-241 
ac Granite State Carwash site at 364 West St (TMP #577-026-000) to the ~0.224-ac 242 
Aroma Joe’s site at 348 West St (TMP #577-025-000). Modifications to the layout of the 243 
existing queuing area on the Aroma Joe’s site are also proposed. Both properties are 244 
located in the Commerce District. 245 

 246 
A. Board Determination of Completeness 247 

 248 
Mr. Clements addressed the Board and stated this item consists of two separate applications (a 249 
boundary line adjustment and a site plan modification) that will be discussed concurrently, but 250 
noted that there will be two separate motions at the end.  251 
 252 
With reference to completeness, Mr. Clements stated the applicant requests exemptions from 253 
providing a traffic analysis, soil analysis, historic evaluation, screening analysis, architectural & 254 

8 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 7 of 14 
 

visual appearance analysis, lighting plan, elevations, and other technical reports. Staff have 255 
determined that the requested exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the application 256 
and recommend that the Board accept the application as complete. 257 
 258 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy to accept S-10-23 & SPR-02-22, Modification #1 as 259 
complete. The motion was seconded by David Orgaz and was unanimously approved. 260 
 261 

B.   Public Hearing 262 
 263 
Mr. Jim Phippard addressed the Board on behalf of West Street AJ’s LLC and A&B LLC. He 264 
addressed the boundary line adjustment first. He explained the boundary line adjustment would 265 
occur along the common boundary line between the Aroma Joe’s parcel and the carwash property. 266 
The purpose of the boundary line adjustment is to add an eight foot strip of land to the entire length 267 
of the Aroma Joe’s western property boundary. Mr. Phippard stated that the Aroma Joe’s property 268 
is an existing non-conforming lot because it is less than the minimum lot size required in the 269 
Commerce District and noted that this adjustment will make it more conforming.  270 
 271 
The carwash site is 0.6 acres in size and is a conforming lot. The purpose of adding this strip of 272 
land is so that the Aroma Joe’s lot can be widened and a second entry lane can be added into the 273 
queuing area. Mr. Phippard talked about the success Aroma Joe’s has had since its construction 274 
last April, more so than was expected. There is a single entry lane that loops around the building 275 
and there was adequate queuing around the property. Ten cars will bring you right up to the 276 
sidewalk on West Street. The applicant’s traffic assessment was based on traffic at their other 277 
locations and indicated that a ten car queuing area would be sufficient for an area the size of Keene. 278 
However, that was not the case and traffic often backed on to West Street blocking traffic from 279 
both directions. The Police were called to the site on numerous occasions to move traffic along 280 
and it was requested that this problem be fixed. 281 
 282 
Mr. Phippard went on to say the applicant provided for a temporary fix. Employees were not 283 
permitted to park in the four spaces on the site to lengthen the queuing lane and were requested to 284 
park on the carwash site. This still did not solve the problem, which is why this proposal is before 285 
the Board today. Mr. Phippard added that this boundary line adjustment does not change the site 286 
plan for the carwash site, it just changes their property line slightly. However, he did note that they 287 
had to go before the Zoning Board for two variances for these properties. The variances were to 288 
allow for a pavement setback less than eight feet along the common property line. He added that 289 
there will be a fence between the two properties to keep the line of traffic separated.  290 
 291 
After coming to the Board last month, he asked the property owner to monitor the number of cars 292 
waiting to turn left and they have indicated that they have not seen any issues. He noted that the 293 
two traffic signals on West Street create a gap in traffic, which helps with left turns. They also 294 
simplified the traffic circulation to eliminate traffic conflicts by closing the curb cuts on the 295 
carwash site along West Street. There are now no curb cuts between Aroma Joes and the Pearl 296 
Street intersection, which provides for an excellent line of sight. Mr. Phippard stated the owner 297 
feels that prohibiting left hand turns is not necessary and would inconvenience customers. He felt 298 
that the current proposal will resolve the issues the site is currently experiencing. 299 
 300 

9 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 8 of 14 
 

Mr. Phippard went on to say that in regard to the recommended conditions of approval, he would 301 
request that 1.C. not be required, which asks for cars exiting the site to be limited to a right turn 302 
only. This concluded Mr. Phippard’s presentation. 303 
 304 
Councilor Remy asked whether the same traffic engineer completed the traffic study for the 305 
carwash site as well. Mr. Phippard answered in the affirmative. 306 
 307 
Mr. Orgaz asked whether there would be signage at the second entrance to Aroma Joe’s. Mr. 308 
Phippard stated there would be signage. 309 
 310 
Mr. Kost asked if cars trying to make a left turn when exiting the site could be a cause of the traffic 311 
issues. Mr. Phippard stated that traffic has been able to turn left out of the site without too many 312 
issues and added that he contributes this to the gaps created by the lights at the two intersections 313 
on West Street. Mr. Phippard stated he drives on West Street every day and looks for issues with 314 
traffic making left turns out of other businesses and has not noticed any issues.  315 
 316 
Mr. Clancy stated his concern is that there is no exit for queuing traffic to get out safely. Mr. 317 
Phippard stated when he did the site plan application for Walpole Savings Bank, he left out the 318 
turn in front of the building, but he was asked to put that back in. Aroma Joe’s is not looking for 319 
this type of traffic circulation. Mr. Clancy stated he had raised this concern during the Advice & 320 
Comment session last month and wonders if there could be a connector lane to the carwash site, 321 
so traffic could exit via the carwash property. Mr. Phippard stated he would not want to encourage 322 
another car to enter a site that already has two lanes coming in and merging, which he felt could 323 
cause a safety hazard. 324 
 325 
Ms. Mastrogiovanni asked whether any consideration could be given to a double exit lane. Mr. 326 
Phippard stated the applicant did not feel that would be necessary. Ms. Mastrogiovanni stated two 327 
exit lanes make it easier for someone who wants to turn right but is behind a car that is trying to 328 
make a left. Mr. Phippard stated there is room to add a second exit by moving the landscaping and 329 
the ramp, but noted that he did not feel this was necessary. He noted adding the second exit comes 330 
at a considerable expense. He added if the owners feel it is necessary, they will come back before 331 
the Board with a site plan modification. Ms. Mastrogiovanni felt it would make more sense to put 332 
the change in place now rather than having to come back. Mr. Phippard stated he does understand 333 
what Ms. Mastrogiovanni is saying but to change the plan now would require this process to be 334 
stopped. He would have to come up with a modification to the plan, submit it to staff, have Public 335 
Works review the plan, and hope to be back at the November meeting – which would cause the 336 
applicant to lose this construction season, so they wouldn’t even be able to install the second entry 337 
lane or complete any construction until April. He stated he would like it to be left for a future 338 
consideration rather than delay this process any further.  339 
 340 
Staff comments were next. Mr. Clements addressed the Board and stated the boundary line 341 
adjustment which consists of a land transfer of 0.022 acres from the Granite State Carwash 342 
property to the Aroma Joe’s property. At the time the boundary line adjustment was submitted, a 343 
voluntary merger between 12 Pearl Street and 364 West St (the two parcels that make up the 344 
carwash site) had not been finalized. Hence, the boundary line adjustment shows that merger as 345 
part of the proposal for this application. There is a precedent condition of approval recommended 346 

10 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 9 of 14 
 

to effectively eliminate that from the boundary line adjustment plan, as it has already been 347 
finalized. 348 
 349 
As part of the site plan, Engineering Staff is looking for a Grading and Erosion Control Plan to be 350 
submitted for the proposed site work. 351 
 352 
With respect to drainage, the applicant states in their narrative that the existing drainage patterns 353 
on the site will be maintained. Stormwater will be directed to the rear of the lot and into the existing 354 
stormwater management system and this system has sufficient capacity to collect any stormwater 355 
from this site. It appears that this standard has been met.  356 
 357 
Sediment & Erosion Control - The applicant states in their narrative that sediment and erosion 358 
control will be achieved by utilizing silt fencing during construction. A Grading & Erosion Control 359 
Plan will be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer.  360 
 361 
Snow Storage will be achieved by storing snow around the perimeter of the drive-thru lane and 362 
removing any excess snow from the site. This standard has been met.  363 
 364 
Landscaping - There are seven existing arborvitaes along the west side of the property that will be 365 
relocated to the southwest corner of the lot to accommodate the expanded drive-thru isle. A six 366 
foot tall fence is being proposed along the common property line. There are also some daylilies 367 
that will be relocated to make room for the new drive-thru lane. This standard has been met.  368 
 369 
Filling & Excavation - The applicant states in their narrative that minor filling and excavation will 370 
be necessary, and they are estimating that 50 cubic yards of material will be necessary for this 371 
project. Mr. Clements noted that they have direct access from Route 12 to the site.  It appears that 372 
this standard has been met. 373 
 374 
Traffic & Access Management – As Mr. Phippard indicated, the applicant has done some 375 
preliminary analysis, and they don’t believe restricting the exit to right turn only is necessary. Staff 376 
from both Public Works and Community Development feel the site in general is very different 377 
than when it was proposed as the Aroma Joe’s site. The activity at the Pearl Street intersection that 378 
is going to be generated from the carwash site is going to be significantly greater than when it was 379 
initially proposed. Staff feel restricting the exit to be a right turn only movement will increase 380 
traffic flow through the Aroma Joe’s site and reduce potential future traffic impacts of cars turning 381 
from the Pearl Street intersection after utilizing the carwash as well as reducing impacts of cars 382 
turning onto Pearl Street. 383 
 384 
Mr. Clements then outlined the recommended conditions of approval. This concluded staff 385 
comments.  386 
 387 
Mr. Orgaz asked whether the employee parking will be brought back to the Aroma Joe’s site. Mr. 388 
Phippard stated employee parking is back.  389 
 390 
Chair Farrington asked whether the Police Department has reviewed this plan. Ms. Brunner stated 391 
that when s these applications are sent out for staff review the Fire Department, Police Department, 392 

11 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 10 of 14 
 

Engineering, Public Works, Zoning and Building Staff are all included in the review process. She 393 
indicated that typically the Police Department doesn’t have comments on site plan applications 394 
and no comments were received on this application. The Chair asked whether what was shared 395 
with them was the right turn only proposal. Mr. Clements stated they receive the complete 396 
submittal, but the plan was not discussed with them directly. The Chair clarified all businesses in 397 
the area are aware of this application. Mr. Clements stated a legally complying public notice was 398 
sent to all abutters. 399 
 400 
The Chair asked for public comment next. With no comment from the public, the Chair closed the 401 
public hearing.  402 
 403 
Councilor Remy stated he does not see any regional impact from this application.  404 
 405 

B. Board Discussion and Action 406 
 407 
A motion was made by Councilor Michael Remy that the Planning Board approve S-10-23 as 408 
shown on the plan set identified as “Lot Line Adjustment Plan” prepared by Huntley Survey & 409 
Design at a scale of 1 inch = 20 feet, dated September 15, 2023 with the following conditions:  410 
 411 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions 412 
precedent shall be met:  413 

A. Owner’s signature appears on the plan.  414 
B. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee 415 
following their installation or the submittal of a security in an amount deemed 416 
satisfactory to the Public Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be set.  417 
C. Submittal of a revised BLA plan that reflects the voluntary merger of 364 West 418 
Street and 12 Pearl Street. 419 
D. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a digital 420 
copy of the final plan set.  421 
E. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of Keene to 422 
cover recording fees.  423 

 424 
The motion was seconded by David Orgaz and was unanimously approved. 425 
 426 
A motion was made by Councilor Michael Remy that the Planning Board approve SPR-02-22, 427 
Mod. 1, as shown on the plan identified as “Site Plan Modification Aroma Joe’s 0 West Street, 428 
Keene, New Hampshire” prepared by SVE Associates and Brickstone Land Use Consultants at a 429 
scale of 1 in =10 ft, dated September 12, 2023 with the following conditions: 1. Prior to final 430 
approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions precedent shall be 431 
met:  432 
 433 

A. Owner’s signature appears on plan.  434 
B. Submittal of a Grading & Erosion Control Plan to the Community Development 435 
Department to be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer.  436 
C. Submittal of five (5) full sized paper copies and a digital copy of the final plan set. 437 

 438 

12 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 11 of 14 
 

The motion was seconded by David Orgaz. 439 
 440 
The Councilor stated he excluded condition C: Submittal of a revised site plan that restricts the 441 
exit from the site to a “Right Turn Only” vehicle movement, but noted that he was open to an 442 
amended motion to add the item back in. He referred to the Savings Bank of Walpole site, which 443 
can be challenging because of the two exit lanes. However, the Starbucks site seems to work fine. 444 
 445 
The Chair stated he agrees with Councilor Remy in that there are sites on West Street that have a 446 
right turn only exit and some that exit right and left. He added that absent data he did not want to 447 
impose this restriction on the applicant. He felt the applicant has been accommodating in turning 448 
this item around and have identified the problem themselves and have addressed it accordingly.  449 
 450 
Mr. Clancy stated he agrees with Councilor Remy’s comment and added in the future when the 451 
Board looks at projects such as this, they will look more closely at safety and dual exit lanes for 452 
queueing lanes. He stated he was concerned about emergency vehicle access.  453 
 454 
The motion made by Councilor Remy was unanimously approved.  455 
 456 
VI.  Advice & Comment  457 

 458 
1. Potential Conservation Residential Development (CRD) Subdivision, 0 Old 459 
Walpole Rd – Applicant and owner Monadnock Habitat for Humanity Inc., is seeking 460 
input from the Planning Board regarding a potential CRD Subdivision of the 7.1-ac 461 
parcel at 0 Old Walpole Rd (TMP #503-005-000). The parcel is located in the Rural 462 
District.  463 

 464 
Mr. Michal Conway, a volunteer for Monadnock Habitat Humanity, stated they acquired this 465 
property through a donation and would like to make the best use of it and provide for affordable 466 
workforce housing. He noted the property is located in the Rural Zone, is 7.1 acres in size and is 467 
eligible to be subdivided into three lots. Each lot would be in excess of two acres and would 468 
become developable lots for three single-family dwellings. He indicated what they are proposing 469 
is an alternative to that; a CRD Development with an optional bonus density incentive for owner-470 
occupied workforce affordable housing. He stated their proposal would require a waiver from the 471 
Planning Board. He added that what they wish to construct would require two waivers.  472 
 473 
The development would consist of two lots each in excess of 32,000 square feet each with a modest 474 
duplex on them. Each duplex would have two units of approximately 1,150 square feet each.  475 
 476 
The first waiver is to allow this project to be reviewed as a CRD subdivision. Per the City’s Land 477 
Development Code, a parcel in the Rural District must have a minimum lot size of 10 acres to be 478 
eligible for a CRD and this parcel is only 7.1 acres in size.  479 
 480 
He added that their proposal involves a turning a portion of the parcel into a perpetual conservation 481 
area, which would set aside an excess of five acres of land and would satisfy the minimum 482 
requirements that would exist if this were a ten acre lot.  483 
 484 

13 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 12 of 14 
 

The second waiver is for the proposed construction of a shared driveway as opposed to the creation 485 
of an interior road. He explained that they are looking for Board input before they spend their 486 
limited funds on professional services. 487 
 488 
Councilor Remy asked how the owner-occupied concept would work, given that they are 489 
proposing two lots with duplexes. Mr. Conway stated it would be a condominium and it would be 490 
a requirement outlined in the lease. The Councilor asked why it needs to be a shared driveway 491 
versus a road. Ms. Brunner stated staff would be in support of this waiver because this proposal is 492 
just for the construction of two duplexes. She explained that the construction of an entire street 493 
that would become a public right-of-way is complicated and there are maintenance issues that go 494 
along with it. The City feels a shared driveway should be encouraged when it makes sense, and 495 
this is one of those instances. Mr. Conway felt that the construction of a street would cause 496 
environmental disturbance and would encroach into the conservation area.  497 
 498 
Councilor Remy referred to the wooded open space toward Old Walpole Road and asked whether 499 
the applicant would have an issue in leaving this as a no cut zone and leaving it as a wooded area. 500 
Mr. Conway stated they will be honoring this requirement. 501 
 502 
Mr. Kost stated he appreciates this concept of providing more workforce housing. He stated he 503 
wanted to make sure the shared driveway would have spaces for emergency vehicle access.  504 
 505 
Mr. Clancy stated he prefers this proposal compared to the one presented by the applicant 506 
previously. He stated his focus is also on emergency vehicle access. 507 
 508 
Chair Farrington stated there is workforce housing and affordable housing and asked what the plan 509 
was for this proposal. Mr. Conway explained Habitat for Humanity helps construct homes. The 510 
partner families also participate in the construction of the house, so there is some sweat equity 511 
invested in the house. If they are unable to help with construction, they can have people help with 512 
construction on their behalf, but it is a requirement. When they are ready to move in, there is a 513 
mortgage so anyone who wants to purchase the home would need to have an income. What makes 514 
it affordable is that the construction of the house is done largely by volunteer labor and much of 515 
the materials are donated.  516 
 517 
He added that Habitat for Humanity is a certified charity, and they structure a no interest mortgage. 518 
However, there are strings attached so that somebody can’t sell the house and make a profit. The 519 
City’s requirement to get the density bonus is to provide for workforce or affordable housing. 520 
Chair Farrington asked for other examples of homes constructed by Habitat for Humanity. Mr. 521 
Conway referred this question to the President for Habitat for Humanity, Matt Keenan. Mr. Keenan 522 
stated they have been around since 1991 and have built 16 homes in the greater Monadnock area. 523 
They have all been single-family homes until now and the challenge has been finding affordable 524 
land.  525 
 526 
Chair Farrington clarified these properties will have well and septic. The applicants agreed and 527 
added that access to sewer is at a distance; however, City water is at close proximity, and this could 528 
still be a possibility.  529 
 530 

14 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 13 of 14 
 

Mr. Clements asked how ownership of each duplex was going to be handled. Mr. Conway stated 531 
they would be owned separately, but the underlying lot will be shared.  532 
 533 
Chair Farrington felt this plan was much more acceptable than what was presented previously. Mr. 534 
Conway asked how the Board felt about the two waivers. Councilor Remy stated he was in support 535 
of the CRD proposal on this acreage and agreed with the shared driveway concept.  536 
 537 
Ms. Markelon felt because this site abuts a low density area the CRD concept would make sense. 538 
 539 
Councilor Remy stated when the plan is ready to be presented, he would like to see a view from 540 
the road of what this plan would look like. Chair Farrington encouraged that they should maintain 541 
as many trees as possible and reminded the applicant of the public’s concern from last month 542 
regarding drainage. Mr. Conway stated the impervious surface being introduced to this site is way 543 
below the maximum required in the rural zone (10%). Mr. Keenan stated that a Keene State 544 
College sophomore class will be assisting with the design for this project.  545 
 546 
Councilor Remy asked if public comment is taken for Advice & Comment. Ms. Brunner stated 547 
this would be entirely up to the Chair. The Chair asked for public comment.  548 
 549 
Mr. David Bergeron, an abutter to this parcel, stated that he was in support of this project.  550 
 551 
Mr. Stefan Mayhew of Elm Street stated he was happy to see Habitat for Humanity veering away 552 
from single-family homes and looking into duplexes and triplexes.   553 
 554 
VII. Staff Updates  555 
 556 
Ms.  Brunner stated with reference to a master plan, the City is currently in the process of selecting 557 
a consultant. There is an RFQ that has been sent out and a roster will be available in time for the 558 
November meeting to assign a Steering Committee. She explained that the hope is to have the 559 
process started in early 2024. 560 
 561 
VIII. New Business  562 
 563 
None 564 
 565 
IX. Upcoming Dates of Interest  566 

• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – November 13th, 6:30 PM  567 
• Planning Board Steering Committee – November 14th, 11:00 AM 568 
• Planning Board Site Visit – November 22nd, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed  569 
• Planning Board Meeting – November 27th, 6:30 PM 570 

 571 
There being no further business, Chair Farrington adjourned the meeting at 8:00 PM. 572 
 573 
Respectfully submitted by, 574 
Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 575 
 576 

15 of 43



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 23, 2023 

Page 14 of 14 
 

Reviewed and edited by, 577 
Megan Fortson, Planning Technician 578 

16 of 43



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
November 16, 2023 
 
 
 
City of Keene Planning Board        
Attn: Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
City Hall - 4th Floor 
3 Washington Street-  
Keene, NH 0343 
 
 
RE:   S-04-22 and SPR-04-22 
 Timberlane Woods CRD Subdivision  

Extension Request Letter 
 
 

Dear Planning Board, 
 
Fieldstone Land Consultants, on behalf of Christopher E. Farris, is hereby submitting this letter 
to request a second 6-month extension to satisfy the precedent conditions of approval.  
Additional time is needed to finalize the legal documents for a formal submission to the City.  
We look forward to the completion of the conditions of approval in the near future. 
 
 
Best Regards, 
FIELDSTONE LAND CONSULTANTS, PLLC 

 
Chad E. Branon, PE 
Project Engineer 

17 of 43



STAFF REPORT 
 

S-11-23 – Boundary Line Adjustment & Street Access Permit – 143 & 147 Main St, 0 Davis St 
BLA 

 
Request: 
Applicant Brickstone Land Use Consultants, on behalf of owners 143 Main LLC & 147-151 Main 
Street LLC, proposes to merge the 0.12-ac parcel at 0 Davis St (TMP# 584-059-000) with the 
existing 0.15-ac parcel at 143 Main St and the 0.19-ac parcel at 147 Main St (TMP#s 584-061-000 
& 584-060-000) and adjust the common lot line between these two parcels. A new curb cut is also 
proposed along Main St to access the parcel at 143 Main St. All parcels are located in the 
Downtown Core District. 
 
Background: 
The subject properties are located at the 
northwest corner of Main Street and Davis 
Street with Athen’s Pizza abutting to the 
north and the Cumberland Farms Gas & 
Convenience across Main Street to the 
east. The property at 143 Main Street 
contains an historic, mixed-use 
commercial and residential building with 
street access from Davis Street via the 0 
Davis Street property. The property at 147-
151 Main Street used to contain a two 
story, brick construction mixed-use 
building known as the Cobblestone 
building; however, the lot is currently 
vacant after a fire forced the demolition of 
the building. The property at 0 Davis Street 
is a gravel parking aera. 
 
The purpose of this BLA application is to 
adjust the common lot line between 143 
Main Street and 147-151 Main Street and merge the 0 Davis Street into the two Main Street 
properties, eliminating the 0 Davis Street property. This proposal will remove the existing site 
access for 143 Main Street. A Street Access permit application for 143 Main Street has been 
submitted concurrently with the boundary line adjustment application to propose a new site 
access point on Main Street. 
 
The Street Access permit application for 143 Main Street proposes to install a new 12’ paved 
driveway along the south side of the existing building. The location of the proposed street access 
and driveway is in the approximate location of a former driveway that was discontinued by the 
previous property owner in 2007, in conjunction with the reconstruction of this portion of Main 
Street. The existing crosswalk will be relocated, by the applicant, to the south of the proposed 
new street access. 
 
Table 1 provides the area of each lot before and after the proposed merger and lot line 
adjustment. The Downtown Core District has no minimum lot size.  

Figure 1. Location of 143 Main St, 147-151 Main St, and 0 Davis St 
parcels. 

18 of 43



STAFF REPORT 
 

 
Determination of Regional Impact: 
After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed 
subdivision does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. 
The Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could 
have the potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 
The Applicant requests exemptions from providing a drainage report, traffic analysis, soil 
analysis, and other technical reports. Staff have determined that the requested exemptions would 
have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the 
application as “complete.” 
 
Departmental Comments: 
Engineering: The proposed street access point will need to meet all pertinent City regulations 
including: 

1. Ramp details shall comply with City Standards and the PROWAG (Public Right-of-Way 
Accessibility Guidelines). 

2. Pavement markings shall be “continental” style with bars arranged parallel to traffic (not 
perpendicular to the crosswalk). 

 
 
Application Analysis:  The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards 
relevant to this application.  
 
19.2.2  Character of Land: The applicant states in their narrative that the subject properties are 
existing commercially developed properties.  The 143 Main Street property is already developed, 
and the 147-151 Main Street property was previously developed and has no steep slopes, surface 
waters, or floodplain areas. It appears that this standard has been met. 
 
19.2.3  Scattered or Premature Development: The applicant states in their narrative that the 
subject parcels are located in a heavily developed area and have access to city services including 
water and sewer service and frontage on Main Street and Davis Street. It appears that this 
standard has been met. 
 
19.2.4  Preservation of Existing Features: There are no significant natural features on the 
properties. The applicant states in their narrative that the existing brick house at 143 Main Street 
will be retained with minor changes to accommodate a new driveway and site access. This 

Table 1. Area of Land Affected by Proposed Boundary Line Adjustment  

 
143 Main St. 

(TMP# 584-061-000) 
147-151 Main St. 

(TMP# 584-060-000) 
0 Davis St. 

(TMP# 584-059-000) 

Prior to Adjustment 0.15 acres 0.19 acres 0.12 acres 

After Adjustment 0.21 acres 0.25 acres 0 acres 

19 of 43



STAFF REPORT 
 

building is located in the Downtown Historic District and is ranked as a “Primary Resource,” which 
means it contributes to the District’s sense of time and place and historical development in a 
particularly distinctive manner. Any changes to this historic resource may require review and 
approval by the Historic District Commission. The Planning Board should not approve any plan or 
proposal that would alter the structure located at 143 Main Street unless and until approval by 
the Historic District Commission has been granted for those alterations.  
 
19.2.5  Monumentation: The applicant states in their narrative that new pins will be set to mark 
the proposed new boundary lines. It appears that this standard has been met. 
 
19.2.6  Special Flood Hazard Area: The applicant states in their narrative that the subject parcels 
do not lie within the 100-year floodplain. 
 
19.2.7  Fire Protection and Water Supply: The applicant states in their narrative that the properties 
are serviced with city water and that fire hydrants exist on Main Street and Davis Street. It appears 
that this standard has been met. 
 
19.2.8  Utilities: City water and sewer service serve the subject properties. It appears that this 
standard has been met. 
 
20.2  Drainage: The applicant states in their narrative that drainage from the proposed driveway 
will be collected and directed to a new infiltration system that will be installed with the planned 
future re-development of 147-151 Main Street. It appears that this standard has been met. 
 
20.3  Sediment & Erosion Control: The applicant states in their narrative that silt fence will be 
installed during the construction of the driveway to prevent any sediment from leaving the site. It 
appears that this standard has been met. 
 
20.5  Landscaping: The applicant states in their narrative that the lawn area at the front of 143 
Main Street will be preserved and that new landscaping will be proposed with the future site plan 
application for the re-development of 143 Main Street. No new landscaping is proposed with this 
application. It appears that this standard has been met. 
 
20.9  Traffic & Access Management: The applicant has submitted a Street Access Permit 
application for 143 Main Street to demonstrate that the property will still have street access after 
the proposed merger and lot line adjustment. The applicant is proposing a 12’ paved driveway 
that will provide access to a proposed parking area located to the rear of the property. At the time 
of this staff report, the plan included a note that indicates that three feet will be “trimmed” from 
the southern porch on the 143 Main Street property. Any proposed changes to this porch, which 
is listed as a character-defining feature on the property inventory form, will need to be reviewed 
and approved by the Historic District Commission before the Planning Board can approve the 
application. If the plans are not revised prior to the Planning Board meeting, staff recommend 
that the Board continue this application to allow the applicant time to either revise the plans to 

20 of 43



STAFF REPORT 
 

avoid impacting the historic brick building, or alternatively, obtain HDC approval for the proposed 
alterations.  
The applicant proposes to shift the existing crosswalk and associated pedestrian features to the 
south of the proposed street access area. The future re-development of 147-151 Main Street will 
use street access from Davis Street and is not under consideration with this application. A full 
Site Plan application will be submitted for the Planning Board to review the proposed re-
development at a later date.  
 
Recommended Motion:  
Staff will provide a recommended motion at the Planning Board meeting.  

 

21 of 43



22 of 43



23 of 43



24 of 43



25 of 43



26 of 43



27 of 43



28 of 43



29 of 43



October 3, 2023 

Brickstone Land Use Consultants LLC 
c/o: Mr. James Phippard 
185 Winchester Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

I 
CITY OF KEENE 

NEW HAMPSHIRE 

RE: Written Zoning Interpretation for 143 Main Street 

Dear Mr. Phippard, 

Article 25.9 of the City of Keene's Land Development Code provides anyone with the ability to request a 
written interpretation of the Zoning Regulations. The owner of the parcel at 143 Main Street and you, as 
their representative, have submitted a request for an interpretation of dimensional standards impacting 
potential development on the property. 

The subject parcel is 0.15 acres in size and is located at 143 Main Street (TMP #584-061-000) in the 
Downtown Core (DT-C) Zoning District. The existing two-story structure on the property with an attached 
barn was constructed in the 1700s as a single-family home and is currently unoccupied. A parking area at 
the rear of the lot is accessed by crossing an abutting parcel to the west at O Davis St (TMP #584-059-000). 
Both of these parcels are owned by the same entity, 143 Main LLC. The owner of these lots and another 
adjacent lot is proposing to reconfigure the lot lines to create two separate lots where there are currently 
three lots. As a result, the owner would like to establish a driveway at 143 Main Street that would allow 
access onto the lot from Main Street. This would result in a driveway and parking surface with no setback 
from the property line between the properties at 143 and 147 Main Street. 

Article 9 of the Land Development Code (LDC) sets parking and travel surface setbacks throughout the city. 
With an approximate parking area of under 10,000 square feet, the setback from the front, side, and rear 
property lines would be set at 8 feet (See Article 9.4.2 and Table 9.2). The proposed access and parking 
area for 143 Main Street would have no setback from the side or rear property lines, so the applicant is 
requesting an interpretation of the Zoning Code to determine whether the dimensional requirements of 
Article 9.4.2 apply in the DT-C Zoning District. 

The DT-C district is one of the districts within the City's downtown that shifted from traditional zoning to 
form-based zoning with the adoption of the Land Development Code. This change was intended to increase 
flexibility for proposed uses while still protecting the character of the downtown. Form-based codes provide 
specific dimensional and design requirements to protect form without impacting uses. In the LDC, the DT
C District standards are outlined in Article 4.2 with Article 4.2.1 providing the dimensional requirements for 
this district. For every building dimension, the LDC either requires or allows a 0-foot setback; however, there 
is no dimension given in this section for parking areas or drive aisles. 

Prior to the adoption of the LDC, the property was located within the Central Business-Limited District. At 
the time the drive aisle and parking area setback was 5 feet. With the introduction of the LDC, previous 
dimensional standards no longer apply. 

I.I.I 
::z:: 
I.I.I 
I.I.I 
::::.c:: 

COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT 

3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov 

30 of 43



Due to the intent of form-based codes and the existing dimensional requirements in the Land Development 
Code, it is my interpretation that no setback is required for either the parking area or drive aisles at 143 
Main Street. While the LDC includes guidance in Article 9.4.2, applying these dimensional standards to the 
DT-C would be overly restrictive to development of the character expected in this district. 

QSinc•u.,~ 
Rogers 
f Keene Building Official, Zoning Administrator, Health Official 

CC: 143 Main LLC 
Jesse Rounds Community Development Director 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 

31 of 43



STAFF REPORT 
 

CLSS-CUP-03-23 – Congregate Living & Social Services Conditional Use Permit – Keene 
Serenity Center, 24 Vernon Street 

 
Request: 
Applicant Keene Serenity Center, on behalf of owner Monadnock Area Peer Support Agency, 
proposes to operate a group resource center on the property at 24 Vernon St (TMP #568-058-
000).  
 
Background: 
Keene Serenity Center is a Recovery 
Community Organization that offers peer 
support for individuals experiencing a 
substance use disorder. The 
organization offers recovery coaching 
programs facilitated by Certified 
Recovery Support Workers. These 
programs include individual sessions, 
group sessions, and telehealth formats. 
The Center also offers a transportation 
program called “Road to Recovery” that 
provides ride services to members for 
appointments and other services to aid 
in their recovery. Currently, 80 rides are 
provided per week utilizing an organization-owned vehicle that is stored in a parking spot provided 
for their use on site.  
 
The subject property at 24 Vernon Street is an office building located on the south side of Vernon 
Street, behind 10 Vernon Street and adjacent to the City of Keene Fire Department building. The 
12,640-sf building contains the Monadnock Area Peer Support Agency, an existing clinic and large 
group home that utilizes approximately 9,140-sf of the building area, a small outdoor activity area, 
and most of the parking lot. The Monadnock Area Peer Support Agency has obtained a 
Congregate Living and Social Service Conditional Use Permit (CUP) and license to operate a large 
group home on the site; however, the Keene Serenity Center is required to obtain their own CUP 
and license to for their own operation. 
 
The purpose of this application is to seek a Congregate Living and Social Service Conditional Use 
Permit to operate a group resource center within 3,500-sf of leased space within the building at 
24 Vernon Street. The Keene Serenity Center has a separate entrance from the other uses in the 
building and utilizes one parking space within the existing parking lot. No exterior alterations to 
the building or site are proposed as part of this application. 
 
Completeness: 
The Applicant has requested exemptions from providing existing & proposed conditions plans, 
grading, landscaping, and lighting plans, building elevations, and technical reports. Staff have 
determined that the requested exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the application 
and recommend that the Board accept the application as “complete.” 
 
 

Fig 1: 24 Vernon Street outlined in yellow. 

32 of 43



STAFF REPORT 
 

Determination of Regional Impact: 
After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed 
subdivision does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. 
The Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could 
have the potential for regional impact. 
 
Application Analysis:  The following is a review of the criteria for granting a Congregate Living 
and Social Services conditional use permit. 
 
A. The nature of the proposed application is consistent with the spirit and intent of the Zoning 

Regulations, this LDC and the City's Comprehensive Master Plan, and complies with all the 
applicable standards in this LDC for the particular use in Section 8.3.4.  

 
This property is located in the Downtown Core (DT-C) district, which is one of 6 form-based zoning 
districts in the downtown. The intent of this district is to accommodate the highest intensity of 
development in the City and promote a mix of uses. The applicant proposes to create a group 
resource center as a principal use in the leased space provided by the property owner, which is 
an allowed use within this district. This site is also within the Downtown Historic District; however, 
no changes are proposed to the exterior of the building or site and thus no impacts to the historic 
district are anticipated at this time. 
 
Section 8.3.4 of the LDC includes the following use standards for a Group Resource Center: 

1. No group resource center shall be constructed or operate without first having obtained a 
congregate living and social services conditional use permit from the Planning Board in 
accordance with Article 15. 

2. Annually, a group resource center shall obtain a congregate living and social services 
license from the City Council as set forth in Chapter 46 of the City Code of Ordinances. 
 

The applicant is aware that a congregate living and social services license will need to be obtained 
and renewed on an annual basis. This requirement has been included as a condition of approval 
in accordance with Section 15.3.C of the LDC. 
 
B. The proposed use will be established, maintained, and operated so as not to endanger the 

public health, safety, or welfare.  
 
The applicant states in their narrative that they are a day program only that operates Monday – 
Friday from 9:00am to 5:00pm. There are occasional evening and weekend trainings and groups 
that typically do not last more than two hours. Members will have access to Monadnock Area 
Peer Support Agency facilities located on the property. 
 
Staff consist of four full time and one part time employees. The program does not include beds 
or overnight support. Staff will be on-site during business and activity hours. Members utilize on-
street public parking or alternative modes of transportation to get to the facility. The existing site 
includes lighting on the Vernon Street side of the building to enhance pedestrian safety to 
navigate the site. 

33 of 43



STAFF REPORT 
 

 
C. The proposed use will be established, maintained, and operated so as to be harmonious with 

the surrounding area and will not impede the development, use, and enjoyment of adjacent 
property. In addition, any parking lots, outdoor activity area, or waiting areas associated with 
the use shall be adequately screened from adjacent properties and from public rights-of-way.  

 
This site is located in a densely populated area of the downtown. Adjacent uses include a mix of 
commercial, multi-family, office, institutional, and social service uses. The existing outdoor 
activity area is screened from the public right of way and adjacent properties. Both the parking 
area and outdoor activity area existed prior to this proposed use and are not proposed to be 
altered or expanded as part of this application. 
 
D. The proposed use will be of a character that does not produce noise, odors, glare, and/or 

vibration that adversely affects the surrounding area.  
 
The proposed use will be located entirely inside the existing building. It is not expected that it will 
generate noise, odors, glare, or vibration that would adversely affect the surrounding area. 
 
E. The proposed use will not place an excessive burden on public infrastructure, facilities, 

services, or utilities. 
 
No changes to the existing water and sewer access for the building are proposed, and City 
engineering staff did not express any concerns about the capacity of the City’s sewer and water 
facilities to accommodate the additional load from the proposed use.  
 
In regard to City services, this site is located in a dense area that is well-served by both fire and 
police. Neither department raised any concerns related to this application.  
 
F. The proposed use will not result in the destruction, loss, or damage of any feature determined 

to be of significant natural, scenic, or historic importance.  
 
There are no features of natural or scenic importance on this site. This existing building is 
considered to be historic and is located in the Downtown Historic District; however, no 
modifications are currently proposed to the exterior of the building. 
 
G. The proposed use will not create a traffic safety hazard or a substantial increase in the level 

of traffic congestion in the vicinity of the use.  
 
The application submitted an ITE traffic trip generation estimate for a small office building use. 
The estimate was based on the ITE Traffic Generation Manual 11th edition and estimated 14.39 
vehicle trips per 1,000-sf of gross floor area. With 3,500-sf of gross floor area the estimated trip 
generation for the proposed use is ~50 vehicle trips per day. This is less than the Planning Board 
threshold of 100 trips for a full traffic study. The application also noted that the actual number of 
vehicle trips would be significantly lower since many of their care seekers use alternative modes 
of transportation to get to the site. 
 

34 of 43



STAFF REPORT 
 

H. The proposed use will be located in proximity to pedestrian facilities (e.g. multiuse trails and 
sidewalks), public transportation, or offer transportation options to its client population. 

 
This site is located in an area that is easily accessed by multiple modes of transportation, 
including walking, bicycling, and public transportation. There are sidewalks, bicycle lanes, and 
public transportation stops immediately adjacent to the site. The Applicant notes in the project 
narrative that program participants rarely drive to the site, and instead utilize one of the alternative 
transportation modes listed above. 
 
Recommended Motion:  
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  

Approve Conditional Use Permit CLSS-CUP-03-23 for a group resource center as depicted in the 
application materials received October 20, 2023 with the following conditions: 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions 
precedent shall be met: 
 
A. The Applicant shall obtain a Congregate Living and Social Services License, which shall 

be renewed annually in accordance with Chapter 46 of the City Code of Ordinances.  
 

35 of 43



36 of 43



37 of 43



38 of 43



39 of 43



40 of 43



October 24, 2023

Data shown on this map is provided for planning and informational purposes only. The municipality and CAI Technologies are not responsible for any use for other purposes
or misuse or misrepresentation of this map.

Keene Serenity Center
24 Vernon St, Keene, NH

1 inch = 40 Feet

12080400
www.cai-tech.com®

41 of 43



 

 

3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov 

November 20, 2023 
 
TO:  City of Keene Planning Board   
 
FROM:  Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
  
THROUGH: Jesse Rounds, Community Development Director  
 
SUBJECT: Master Plan Steering Committee  
 
 
Recommendation:   
To appoint a Master Plan Steering Committee to guide and assist with updating the City of Keene 
2010 Comprehensive Master Plan. 
 
Background:     
The City of Keene Comprehensive Master Plan is a long-range planning document that that provides 
guidance for city-wide growth and development patterns, investments, and initiatives. State Statute 
recommends that communities update their Master Plans every 5-10 years; however, Keene’s 
current Master Plan was last updated in 2010. It is now 13 years later, and many aspects of our 
economic, environmental, and social context have changed. The City Council has appropriated funds 
in the City’s Capital Improvements Program (CIP) to update the Master Plan over the next two years. 
Per NH State Statute (RSA 674:2), it is the duty of the Planning Board to “prepare and amend from 
time to time a master plan to guide the development of the municipality.” Staff recommend that the 
Planning Board create a Steering Committee to help guide the Master Plan update project and 
appoint the following individuals to serve on the Committee, who have been nominated by Mayor 
Hansel: 
 

1. Harold Farrington     Regular Member, Slot 1   
2. Armando Rangel     Regular Member, Slot 2   
3. Mike Remy      Regular Member, Slot 3   
4. Joe Walier      Regular Member, Slot 4  
5. Cody Morrison      Regular Member, Slot 5 
6. Marc Doyon      Regular Member, Slot 6 
7. Josh Meehan      Regular Member, Slot 7 
8. Alex Henkel      Regular Member, Slot 8 
9. Beth Wood      Regular Member, Slot 9 
10. Jay Kahn      Regular Member, Slot 10 
11. Sparky Von Plinsky     Regular Member, Slot 11 
12. Phil Wyzik      Alternate Member, Slot 12 
13. Judy Rogers      Alternate Member, Slot 13 
14. Ken Kost      Alternate Member, Slot 14   
15. Phil Jones      Alternate Member, Slot 15 
16. Catt Workman      Alternate Member, Slot 16 

 
 

42 of 43



 

 

3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov 

November 20, 2023 
 
TO:  City of Keene Planning Board   
 
FROM:  Mayor George S. Hansel  
 
COPY:  Jesse Rounds, Community Development Director  
 
SUBJECT: Nominations, Planning Board Master Plan Steering Committee  
 
 
Background:  I hereby nominate the following individuals to serve on the Planning Board 
Master Plan Steering Committee: 
 

1. Harold Farrington     Regular Member, Slot 1   

2. Armando Rangel     Regular Member, Slot 2   

3. Mike Remy      Regular Member, Slot 3   

4. Joe Walier      Regular Member, Slot 4  

5. Cody Morrison      Regular Member, Slot 5 

6. Marc Doyon      Regular Member, Slot 6 

7. Josh Meehan      Regular Member, Slot 7 

8. Alex Henkel      Regular Member, Slot 8 

9. Beth Wood      Regular Member, Slot 9 

10. Jay Kahn      Regular Member, Slot 10 

11. Sparky Von Plinsky     Regular Member, Slot 11 

12. Phil Wyzik      Alternate Member, Slot 12 

13. Judy Rogers      Alternate Member, Slot 13 

14. Ken Kost      Alternate Member, Slot 14   

15. Phil Jones      Alternate Member, Slot 15 

16. Catt Workman      Alternate Member, Slot 16 

43 of 43


	2023_11_27_pb_agenda_AMENDED
	2023_10_23_PB_Minutes_MF Edits
	Timberlane Woods CRD_Second Extension Request_Received 11-17-23
	Main St & Davis St BLA_Packet
	BLA Application_Received 10-20-23
	Street Access Permit Application_Received 11-14-23
	BLA Narrative_Received 10-20-23
	Street Access Permit Narrative_Received 11-14-23
	BLA Plan_Received 10-20-23_REDUCED
	Street Access Permit Plan_Received 11-14-23_REDUCED
	Pavement Setback Zoning Interpretation_10-03-23_FINAL LETTER

	Keene Serenity Center_Packet
	Application_Received 10-20-23
	Narrative_Received 10-20-23
	Aerial Imagery

	Memo - Master Plan Steering Committee
	Memo - Master Plan Steering Committee Nominations



